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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA
REGIONAL MULTIPLE LISTING Civil No,
SERVICE OF MINNESOTA, INC., d/b/a
NORTHSTARMLS
N COMPLAINT AND
Plainfiff
aintitt, DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

V.
AMERICAN HOME REALTY
NETWORK, INC.

Defendant.

Plaintiff Regional Multiple Listing Service of Minnesota, Inc., d/b/a NorthstarMLS
(“RMLS”), for its Complaint against defendant American Home Realty Network, Inc.
(“AHRN”), states and alleges as follows:

NATURE OF THE CASE

1. This is an action for copyright infriﬁgement brought under the Copyright Laws
of the United States, 17 U.S.C. § 101 ez seq.

2. Plaintiff RMLS brings this action because defendant AHRN willfully infringed
RMLS’s copyrights in the original compilation of its regional multiple listing service
database, which it markets as its “NorthstarMLS® Database,” as well as in photographs
published on the NorthstarMLS Database, by reproducing, distributing, and displaying these

copyrighted works without authorization.
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PARTIES

3. Plaintiff RMLS is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
state of Minnesota, with its principal place of business at 2550 University Avenue West,
#259 S, St. Paul, Minnesota 55414.

4. Defendant AHRN is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the
state of Delaware, with its principal place of business at 222 7th Street, 2nd Floor, San
Francisco, California, 94103. AHRN is a real estate brokerage that owns and operates the
website located at Attp://www.neighborcity.com (the “Neighborcity Website™).

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28
U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a), as the claims alleged herein arise under the Copyright Laws of
the United States, 17 U.S.C. § 1, et seq.

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over AHRN under Minn. Stat. § 543.19,
because AHRN transacts business in Minnesota. On information and belief, AHRN has
entered into agreements with Minnesota real estate agents through which AHRN refers
prospective real estate buyers to such Minnésota agents. The agents, in turn, pay AHRN for
the business referred by AHRN through a portion of the agents’ sales commission.
Moreover, AHRN has offered to license its various products and services to Minnesota
residents. This Court also has personal jurisdiction over AHRN under Minn. Stat. § 543.19,
because AHRN has otherwise committed acts in Minnesota causing injury to RMLS in
Minnesota. For example, as alleged below, AHRN has reproduced, distributed, and
displayed RMLS’s copyrighted works on the Neighborcity Website in violation of RMLS’s

exclusive rights, which has caused injury to RMLS in Minnesota.
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7. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and (c),
and 1400(a), because a substantial part of the events alleged herein occurred in Minnesota.

THE COPYRIGHTED WORKS

8. RMLS is a multiple listing service company that serves more than 13,000 real
estate brokers and agents in Minnesota and western Wisconsin. As a broker-to-broker
cooperative, RMLS facilitates the sale of real property to the benefit of buyers and sellers by
providing, among other things, fast and reliable information services and resources to
participating brokers and agents.

9. Among the services and systems offered by RMLS is ité NorthstarMLS
Database, which provides access to tens of thousands of active real estate listings, more than
one million comparable and sold properties, and nearly three million property records from
numerous Minnesota and Wisconsin counties. Agents and brokerages rely on the
NorthstarMLS Database for access to comprehensive real estate listings and other
information in their respective markets.

10.  RMLS has expended significant time and effort in the creation of its original
NorthstarMLS Database. Among the content included in the NorthstarMLS Database are
original data fields, descriptors, and content selected, coordinated, and arranged by RMLS.

11. RMLS owns the copyrights relating to the selection, coordination, and
arrangement of the fields, descriptors, and content on its NorthstarMLS Database |
(collectively referred to as the “Compilation Content”). RMLS has registered the copyrights
for the Compilation Content with the United States Copyright office on a quarterly basis
since at least 1998. The most current certificate of registration for the copyrights in the

Compilation Content owned by RMLS is referenced below:
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Title of Work

Copyright Registration No.

Registration Date

Group registration for
automated database titled
NorthstarMLS Database;
published updates from
01/01/12 to 3/26/12;
identifying material
represents the date of
3/21/2012; revisions are
made daily

TX 7-499-577

March 27, 2012

12.  RMLS also owns the copyrights in certain photographs accompanying listings

for real estate on the NorthstarMLS Database (collectively referred to as the “Photographic

Works”). RMLS has registered the copyrights for the Photographic Works with the United

States Copyright office. The certificates of registration for the copyrights in the Photographic

Works owned by RMLS are referenced below:

Title of Work

Copyright Registration No.

Registration Date

Robert John Muske Jr’s VA 1-432-912 March 27, 2012
published photos Q1 2012
Shannon Kelly Melloy’s VA 1-432-913 March 27, 2012
published photos Q1 2012
Gregory Duane Shaleen’s | VA 1-432-914 March 27, 2012
published photos Q1 2012
Spacecrafting, Inc.’s VA 1-432-917 March 30, 2012

published photos Q1 2012

13.  RMLS has complied with all statutory requirements in securing federal

copyright registrations for the copyrights in the Compilation Content and the Photographic

Works (such content and works hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Copyrighted

Works”). The Copyrighted Works are original works of authorship and constitute

copyrightable subject matter under the copyright laws of the United States.

14.  The Copyrighted Works have been published on the NorthstarMLS Database,

where they can be viewed and downloaded by agents and brokerages licensed by RMLS for
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the purpose of further distribution and public display. Each page of the NorthstarMLS
Database, as well as each of the Photographic Works, contains a copyright notice indicating
that RMLS owns the copyright in both the compilation of the NorthstarMLS Database and
the individual Photographic Works.

AHRN’S INFRINGING ACTIVITY

15.  As alleged above, AHRN owns and operates the Neighborcity Website, which,
according to AHRN, “is a real estate search engine, as well as a Realtor® ratings and rankings
service that introduces homebuyers and sellers to qualified and vetted local real estate agents
who are available to exclusively represent them.” The Neighborcity Website also states that
AHRN’s “real estate search allows you to quickly see where your favorite homes are located
and to evaluate the neighborhood from the convenience of your home. Whether you’re a
buyer, seller, real estate agent or just shopping; NeighborCity brings you the most complete
look at your local real estate market.”

16.  The Neighborcity Website contains copies of the Copyrighted Works that have
been reproduced by AHRN in whole or in part and without authorization from RMLS,
including the selection, coordination, and arrangement of fields, descriptors, and other
content from the Compilation Content as well as Photographic Works. Examples of screen
shots revealing AHRN’s copying of the selection and arrangement of the fields, descriptors,
and content of the NorthstarMLS Database and Photographic Works (with the prominent

“NorthstarMLS” copyright notice circled in red) are shown below:
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NEIGHBORCITY"

FIND HOMES FORECLOSURES : FIND AGENTS | COMMUNITY - HOME SERVICES

City, Meighborhood, Zip Coce, MLS# or Agant Hame

Hame > Minnesnta > Minnetnnka » 3950 Browr Larne

3960 Brown Lane qH

Minnetonke, MN 55345

Bedrooms: 3  Bathrcoms: 2

5q. Feet: Lot Size:
1,972 0.42 acres
Year Burli: Per Sq. Foot:
1959 5142
Property Type:

Single Family Home

WS = 4119584

For immediate assistance cal us toll fre=:

g y IR AT
-OQUU-207-3321
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NEIGHBORCITY"

FIND HOMES  FORECLOSURES FIND AGENTS { COMMUNITY | HOME SERVICES

City, Meigkborhooc, Zip Coce, ML S# or Agent Hame

Home > finnesota = Maple Gove » 9371 Ranchyiew [ane M

9371 Ranchview Lane N g

Waole Grove, MM 55369

Bedrooms: 2  Bathrooms: 1

5¢. Feel: Lot Size:
&80 Mk

vear Burls Per Sc. Foot:
1983 591

Property Type:
Condoftownhomedrow Home/to

S = 4115617

REQUEST INFO

R
" e

ror immediate assistance cal us toll fres:
1-800-157-3321

o

17.  AHRN is not now, and never has been, authorized or licensed to reproduce,
distribute, or display any of ‘fhe Copyrighted Works.

18.  AHRN has had actual knowledge of the Copyrighted Works and copyright
notices since at least November 2011, when RMLS demanded that AHRN cease its

unauthorized reproduction, distribution, and display of the Copyrighted Works. Despite this
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knowledge, AHRN willfully reproduced, distributed, and/or displayed unauthorized and
infringing copies of the Copyrighted Works.

19.  On information and belief, AHRN reproduced, distributed, and displayed the
Copyrighted Works for the purposes of commercial advantage and/or private financial gain.

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Copyright Infringement of Compilation Content — 17 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq.)

20.  RMLS incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 19
above as though fully set forth herein.

21.  The Compilation Content consists of original works of authorship and
constitute copyrightable subject matter under the copyright laws of the United States. RMLS
owns the copyrights in the Compilation Content and has complied with all statutory
requirements in securing federal copyright registrations for its Compilation Copyrights. A
copy of the most recent certificate of registration for the copyrighted Compilation Content is
attached as Exhibit A.

22.  AHRN has reproduced, distributed, and/or displayed the Compilation Content,
in whole or in part, on AHRN’s Neighborcity Website without authorization from RMLS.
Such actions by AHRN infringe RMLS’s exclusive rights in fhe copyrights for the
Compilation Content in violation of 17 U.S.C. § 501.

23.  AHRN’s infringing activities have been willful.

24.  AHRN has derived profits and has caused RMLS monetary damages as a result

of AHRN’s infringing conduct.
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25. RMLS has suffered irreparable harm as a result of AHRN’s infringing
activities and will continue to suffer irreparable harm in the future unless AHRN is enjoined
from its infringing conduct.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Copyright Infringement of Photographic Works — 17 U.S.C. §§ 101 et seq.)

26.  RMLS incorporates the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 25
above as though fully set forth herein.

27.  The Photographic Works consist of original works of authorship and constitute
copyrightable subject matter under the copyright laws of the United States. RMLS owns the
copyrights in the Photographic Works and has complied with all statutory requirements in
securing federal copyright registrations for the Phofographic Works. Copies of the
certificates of registration for the copyrighted Photographic Works are attached as Exhibit B.

28.  AHRN has reproduced, distributed, and/or displayed the Photographic Works,
in whole or in part, on AHRN’s Neighborcity Website without authorization from RMLS.
Such actions by AHRN infringe RMLS’s exclusive rights in the copyrights for the
Photographic Works in violation of 17 U.S.C. § 501.

29.  AHRN'’s infringing activities have been willful.

30. AHRN has derived profits and has caused RMLS monetary damages as a result
of AHRN’s infringing conduct.

31.  RMLS has suffered irreparable harm as a result of AHRN’s infringing
activities and will continue to suffer irreparable harm in the future unless AHRN is enjoined

from its infringing conduct.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, RMLS respectfully requests this Court:

A. Enter judgment that AHRN has willfully infringed the Copyrighted Works;

B. Enter orders preliminarily and permanently enjoining AHRN and its respective
offices, directors, agents, servants, employees and other representatives, as well as those in
active concert with them, from infringing any of RMLS’s exclusive rights in the Copyrighted
Works, including the Compilation Content and the Photographic Works;

C. Order the impounding for destruction of all unauthorized copies or
reproductions of any products containing unauthorized reproductions of the Copyrighted
Works, including but not limited to all infringing works displayed on the Neighborcity
Website;

D. Order an accounting of AHRN’s profits attributable to AHRN’s infringement
of the Copyrighted Works;

E. Award RMLS monetary relief, at the election of RMLS (as authorized by 17
U.S.C. § 504), in an amount to be fixed by the Court in its discretion as just, of either:

(1)  Actual damages sustained by RMLS as a result of AHRN’s
infringement of the Copyrighted Works, together with AHRN’s profits
attributable to the infringement but not taken into account in computing
actual damages, pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 504(b); or

2) statutory damages for each of the Copyrighted Works, as authorized by
17 U.S.C. § 504(c)(2);

F. Award RMLS’s full costs and attorney’s fees, és authorized by 17 U.S.C. §
505;
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G. Award RMLS prejudgment and post-judgment interest, as allowed by law; and
H. Award RMLS such other relief as this Court deems just and appropriate.

REQUEST FOR A JURY TRIAL

Pursuant to Rule 38(b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, RMLS respectfully
requests a trial by jury of any and all issues on which trial by jury is available under

applicable law.

Dated: April /%, 2012 FA ANIELS ELP

-

Calvin L. Litsey (#153746)

Leita Walker (#387095)

2200 Wells Fargo Center

90 South Seventh Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402-3901

Tel: (612) 766-7000

Fax: (612) 766-1600

Email: calvin.litsey@faegrebd.com;
leita.walker@faegrebd.com

LARSON/SOBOTKA, PLLC

Brian N. Larson (#306587)
Mitchell A. Skinner (#391547)
2701 University Ave SE, Ste 201
Minneapolis MN 55414

Tel: (612) 424-8660

Fax: (612) 677-3872

Email: blarson@larsonsobotka.com
mskinner@larsonsobotka.com

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
REGIONAL MULTIPLE LISTING
SERVICE OF MINNESOTA, INC.

fb.us.8156382.09
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EXHIBIT A
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EXHIBIT B
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CONTINUATION SHEET

FOR FORM VA
for Group Registration of Published Photographs

This optional Continuation Sheet {Form GR/PPh/CON) is used only in conjunction with
Form VA for group registration of published photographs

This form may not be used as a continuation sheet for unpublished collections Toist
ndividual titles m unpublished collections, use Form CON
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at www copyright gov, wnite the Copyright Office, or call (202) 707-3000
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listed 1n Part B of this form The names should be the same as the names given 1 spaces 2 and 4 of the basic apphcation
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COPYRIGHT REGISTRATION FOR A GROUP OF PUBLISHED PHOTOGRAPHS To make a single registration for a group of works
by the same mdividual author, all pubhshed within 1 calendar year (see instructions), give full ;mformation about each contnbution
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n Tule o Photograph 0221 14130 37th Place - 02
Date of Pirst Pubhcation S:?mafy 21,2012 Nation of First Publeation Unuted States of America
o oad
Description of Photograph =
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Date of First Publhcaton FEDrUAry 21,2012 Natwon of Furst Publicanon _Uuted States of Amernica
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Description of Photograph P—
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CONTINUATION SHEET
FOR FORM VA
for Group Registration of Published Photographs

This optional Continuation Sheet (Form GR/PPh/CON) is used only in conjunction with
Form VA for group registration of published photographs

This form may not be used as a continuation sheet for unpublished collections To hist
mdividual titles 1 unpublished collections, use Form CON

If you do not have enough space for all the information you need to give on Form VA or1f
you do not provide all necessary mformation on each photograph, use this Continuation
Sheet and submit it with completed Form VA.

No more than 50 continuation sheets (or 750 photos) may be used with a single filing fee
and FormVA.

if you submit this Continuation Sheet, chip (do not tape or staple) #t to completed Form VA
and fold the two together before submitting them

Space A of this sheet {s intended to identify the author and claimant

Space B1s mtended to identify individual titles and dates of publication (and optional
description) of individual photographs

Use the boxes to number each line in Part B consecutively If you need more space, use
addftional Forms GR/PPh/CON

Copyright fees are subject to change For current fees, check the Copyright Office webstte
at www copynght gov, write the Copyright Office, or call (202) 707-3000 -

DO NOT WRITE ABOVE THIS LINE FOR COPYRIGHT OFFICE USE ONLY

e Form GR/PPh/CON
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COPYRIGHT REGISTRATION FOR A GROUP OF PUBLISHED PHOTOGRAPHS: To make a single registration for a group of works
by the same indivadual author, all published within 1 calendar year (see instructions), give full information about each contribution
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Descniption of Photograph
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by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United
the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.,)

tates inSeptember 1974, is required for the use of tﬁe Clerk of

CIVIL COVER SHEET

The JS 44 civil coversheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor sugplenent the filing and service of pleadngs or other

apers as required by law, except as povided
urt for the purpose of mitiating

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS
REGIONAL MULTIPLE LISTING SERVICE OF MINNESOTA, INC.
d/b/al NORTHSTARMLS

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Ramsey

DEFENDANTS
AMERICAN HOME REALTY NETWORK, INC.

County of Residence of First Listed Defendant ~ San Francisco

(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

C) Att Firm Name, Address, and Teleph Numbi
i LR rmams Afices gnd Tlephgre Murberh 1o 1L, 2200 Wels

Fargo Center, 90 S 7th St, Mpls MN 55402, 612-766-7000

(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

NOTE:

Attorneys (If Known)

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X" in One Box Only)

IIL

CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X" in One Box for Plaintiff)
(For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant)

Ot US. Government A 3 Federal Question PTF DEF PTF DEF
Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State o1 0O 1 Incorporated or Principal Place 0O 4 0O4
of Business In This State
3 2 U.S. Government 3 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State 8 2 O 2 Incorporated and Principal Place o s Os
Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in ltem I1]) of Business In Another State
Citizen or Subject of a O 3 O 3 Foreign Nation g 6 O6
Foreign Country
IV, NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X"' in One Box Only)
O 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY |3 625 Drug Related Seizure 1 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 3 375 False Claims Act
0 120 Marine 0 310 Airplane O 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 |(J 423 Withdrawal O 400 State Reapportionment
0 130 Miller Act 03 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 3 690 Other 28 USC 157 O 410 Antitrust
O 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability O 367 Health Care/ O 430 Banks and Banking
0 150 Recovery of Overpayment |(7 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical |- PROFER O 450 Commerce
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury ™ 820 Copyrights [0 460 Deportation
0 151 Medicare Act 3 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 0 830 Patent 0O 470 Racketeer Influenced and
3 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability 3 368 Asbestos Personal O 840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations
Student Loans 0 340 Marine Injury Product 0O 480 Consumer Credit
(Excl. Veterans) 3 345 Marine Product Liability o R L SOCIAL 0 490 Cable/Sat TV
0 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY |(J 710 Fair Labor Standards 0 861 HIA (1395ff) O 850 Securities/Commodities/
of Veteran’s Benefits 3 350 Motor Vehicle 3 370 Other Fraud Act 3 862 Black Lung (923) Exchange
3 160 Stockholders’ Suits 3 355 Motor Vehicle 3 371 Truth in Lending 0 720 Labor/Mgmt. Relations 0 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) | O 890 Other Statutory Actions
0 190 Other Contract Product Liability O 380 Other Personal O 740 Railway Labor Act 0 864 SSID Title XV1 J 891 Agricultural Acts
3 195 Contract Product Liability {3 360 Other Personal Property Damage O 751 Family and Medical 00 865 RSI (405(g)) O 893 Environmental Matters
3 196 Franchise Injury O 385 Property Damage Leave Act O 895 Freedom of Information
J 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability [J 790 Other Labor Litigation Act
Med. Malpractice 3 791 Empl. Ret. Inc. {3 896 Arbitration
[i i R 1R PRISONER PETITIONS Security Act .- FEDERAL TAX SUITS {J 899 Administrative Procedure
0 210 Land Condemnation 0 440 Other Civil Rights 3 510 Motions to Vacate O 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff Act/Review or Appeal of
3 220 Foreclosure 3 441 Voting Sentence or Defendant) Agency Decision
7 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 0 442 Employment Habeas Corpus: O 871 IRS—Third Party O 950 Constitutionality of
3 240 Torts to Land 3 443 Housing/ 0 530 General 26 USC 7609 State Statutes
0 245 Tort Product Liability Accommeodations 3 535 Death Penalty s IMMIGRATION
3 290 All Other Real Property 3 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - | 3 540 Mandamus & Other |0 462 Naturalization Application
Employment O 550 Civil Rights 3 463 Habeas Corpus -
O 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - | 3 555 Prison Condition Alien Detainee
Other 3 560 Civil Detainee - (Prisoner Petition)
7 448 Education Conditions of 0 465 Other Immigration
Confinement Actions
V. ORIGIN (Place an “X"' in One Box Only)
X1 Original 3 2 Removed from 3 3 Remanded from O 4 Reinstatedor O 5 Transferred from {3 6 Multidistrict
i another district Jutticl
Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened (specify) Litigation
Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional unless diversity).

17 U.S.C. §101 et. seq.

V1. CAUSE OF ACTION

Brief description of cause:
Copyright Infringement

VII. REQUESTED IN O CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION

DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:

COMPLAINT: UNDER FR.CP.23  Actual or Statutory Damages, Injunctive Relief  JURY DEMAND: & Yes [INo
VIII. RELATED CASE(S) o
IF ANY (See instructions):  y;DGE DOCKET NUMBER
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q19]/12. L st —
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY
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